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HEAD AND NECK SURGERY
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JOHN C. SNYDER, JR., M.A., C.C.C.A.
Certified Clinical Audlologlet

Septenber 16, 1980
Jane Franklin
Claim ~t.

Lurrbernml' s Mutw.l Cas. CD.
5306 Peters Creek Rd., N.W.
PO Box 76367
Roanoke, VA 24019

RE:

Erving Harold Shaffer

~ar

Mrs. Frankhln:

Mr. Shaffer w&.;; ·referred to our office from the Bristol M=rrori.al Hospital

Errergency Room -:.-v:--ere he had been seen on 2 occasions. The first was at
the ti.rre of his accident at which tirre the Energency Room physician diagnosed
a ~ontusion o~ _!h.~ -Q.gbt ~Q.o\}l.d:J"~~ a concus'si~. The patient was gi.\.el
a cervical: collar and inproved with tine. He was not admitted to the
hospital at that tirre. Approximately 2 weeks later he returned to the
Errergency Room rorrplaining to them that he coul~~hear from tbe ri~t
ear and hence.he was referred to .our office. \.Jhen we saw Mr. Shaffer on
August 8th he in~ed gave evidence of a significant hearing loss in the
right.....ear. Audiorretfic studies at that ti.ne were sorrevmat ~nronsistcnt and
we instructed Mr. Shaffer to return to our office for re-testing in a weeks
tirre. The patient carre back prematurely on the 11th of August saying that
the pain along the right side of his head and neck was so great that he was
mable to Y1Drk or frnction and was afraid of falling again. He was also
corrplaining of dizziness. At that tinE he was found to have exquisite
tenderness of the terrporal mandibular 'joint on the right side which is
corrpatable with traurm to this area. Neverthel ess this pain was certa.:iply
not coming from his ear nor did it have an th ·
to do with ·
arin loss. ·· ·
·He gave him sorre analgesic rredicat~ons an requested him to return on his
regular appointnent. At the ti.ne of his next visit ~ Shaffer asked to
speak tone privately and explained that since :the_ac-c1.'dent this gentlemm
had been denonstrating very bizzare, straoge and 1mpredi ctably hostil~
behavior. She said she was afraid to be with him at tines and 'MJndered if
s~thing mi.ght have happened inside his skull.
She said this was musual
behaviord:or this man. He also contintEd to ronplain of severe pain and
dizziness and still denonstrated objectively marked tension in the terrporal
mandibular joint and the nuscles of mastication. Be·c ause of this new
infonro.tiqn he was r~rred to the radiology depart:nent at B~t;ot}1:ITP.P-!i~~B"~t.
~ at which tine he had tono~ams throueh his terrporat. §01es to il:lre ·
.
·out the possibility of a fracture and these Xrays were negatiVi:1:.. - ------------ - - - ·
. . ~;:)'•:1,. . . .. ........ ------- ·--·
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Par,e 2

Jane Franklin
Claim Department

P. 0. Box 76367
Roandce, VA 24019
RE :

Erving Shaffer

Additiooally, he had a cr Scan of the head, which failed to shav any evidence
of any .i .Dtracranial prqblem. I wish to :reitetate, that neither the pam
nor t.~e behavioral changes denonstrated by this man have any relationship
to t.l-te hearing loss in his ri~t ear. I last SCM t:..'1is eentleman on Septerrber
2, 1980 at that ti.P.e his conplaints of pain and dizziness oo the rip.J1t
side of his head and nedc were sigpificantly · less . TIU.s tine however by
the patients own history he related to me that he was having many behavior
difficulties end extrene anxiety and he felt he was losing central. Based
on the negative Xray studies and ob~ctive findinp;s to e?Qlain this ITEnS
trm.Dles-atia~--=r-his cyproval and
sire, I t.~en-~a:mm:mded that he .
seek ccnsultation at the Bristol ~ntal Healt'FlClinic. And appointtiEI1t was
obtained for him. It was also Ilo/ reCOI!ITE!ldation that he see a dental
practicimer 't.Jh.O specializes in problems of the tenporal mandibular joint
in h~es t:,at a speedy solution can be found to his ~roblems in this area
as well. Again, a hea~ loss for whiC:1 'I have primarily been seeing this
gentler:1ar1 !'las beeno-f re tively Triinor ccmcem to tlftl>=point. I oo
anticip~te that affer all these ot.'l)er problems will ~1opefully be solved, he
will then be ready to un~~ e:xplor.ator,L.Surgecy of the rl:ght ear in hq:>es
of finding the reasrn for bis hearing lass and hopefully surgically
correcting the prcblem. ·To the best of our knowlege at this tine he ap)ea.rs
to have a disruption of the ossicular chain within the ri&'lt midear. It is
his other problen5 taking priority that :1ave prevented us from dealing wit:..'1
his :,earing probler:t to this date. Hence, as his hearinp, problem is not his
disabling entity I cannot give you a profess icnal opinion as to when :1r. Shaffer
will be able to return to work. +f his hearing 'tvere his only problem he
'tvould
to,--mi.~s
---=-: certainly be able to wo~_at this' tirre and woUld prQl?ably. . have. ...
t~.ly_two_Heeks for his operatioo ~d re~very period.
Again, that l.S ·
if his hearinr, loss ~re his a1ly problem.
·- -I hope this ·irifonnatioo is of use to you.
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(() n~p>rt - to Menlallfealln-sfiOul.d have been here it 1s not. He still has di scc mf0 rt with. iii s
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SHAFFER, HAROLD
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ADMISSION DATE:

OA I(

CHIEF COMPLAINT:

10-16-80
Headaches, dizziness and depression.

HISTORY OF PRESENT ILLNESS: This 47 year old white ma le was in his usual
state of health until the latter part of July of this year. He was working
for the Farmbest Dairy Company in Bristol, Virginia, when he fell from a tanker
truck and received a blow to the right s:i.de of the head.
He was seen in
Bristol emergency room and apparently no significant injury was found.
He was sent home, but after returning to work for about three days
continued to have problems with pain in the right side of his head
and dizziness. He stated that he almost fell again, and returned to
the emergency room for evaluation. He was then referred to Dr. Robbins
who is an ENT specialist in Bristol.
Dr. Robbins felt that his hearing
decreased on the right and his CT scan wns ordered, which was apparently
negative.
He then began having difficulty with emotional problems.
I talked at length with his wife and she · states -that he- has become
very emotionally labile. He has become somewhat paranoid and loses
his temper very easily. He has struck hi.s wife on one or two occasions
which he had never do~e previously.
He has had much difficulty sleeping
at night and feels very anxious in the daytime.
He has episodes of crying spells.
He was given Dalmane and Equagesic
by the ENT physician and actually took an overdose, about _l4 pills
· of Dalmane at one time , but just became nauseated and threw these up.
He states he has contemplated suicide also, even with a gun.
He was
referred from Dr. Robbins to the Bristol Mental Health Center and was
seen by a psychologist there. He has not actually seen the psychiatrist.
He had psychologic testing done and, from the test, the wife was told
that he had "brain damage". He was felt to be borderline mentally
retarded with an IQ of about 65.
In the psychologist's note, he stated
that they were unable to ascertain whether or not this decrease in
mental function was related to the accident or not. His wife called
me the day prior to admission, stating that he had been having all
this difficulty the last few months and requested in-patient evaluation.
PAST MEDICAL HISTORY: This patient has been basically healthy in the
past. He has had only one previous hospitalization for a hemorrhoid
operation this past year and. again for tonsillectomy many years ago.
lie denie s any allergies to medication. No unusual childhood illnesses.
He has taken occasional Dalmane for sleep and also Equagesic for the
head pain. He denies smoking or drinking.
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ROOM

DATE

FAMILY HISTORY: There ·.is no history of any early heart disease,
psychiatric disease, alcoholism in the family. No history of any
seizures or brain tumors.
SOCIAL HISTORY: The patient has four children.
Two of his daughters
have moved away and live in California. He has two sons at home.
He
lives with his wife in Hiltons, Virginia. He does not smoke or drink.
He only went to the fifth grade in school. He states that he had to
drop out at that time . to help build a house and work on the farm. He
states that he made fair grades while he was in school. He has actually
been doing a fair amount of paperwork in his job, working for the Farmbest
Dairy in Bristol.
REVIEW OF SYSTEMS: Ears, nose and throat reveal that ~e has had no
visual difficulty, He complained of decreased hearing in the right
ear.
No difficulty with swallowing. No syncopal episodes.
He is
dizzy frequently.
He also states that he has right sided head pain
off and on much of the day.
RESPIRATORY:

He denies cough, sputum production, shortness of breath.

CARDIOVASCULAR:
of the legs.

No palpitations, pain in chest with exertion, swelling

GASTROINTESTINAL : Appetite has been somewhat decreased.
No nausea,
vomiting, blood in the stools or constipation or diarrhea.
EXTREMITIES: States he has noticed some pain in his left shoulder
and weakness .in his left arm at times. There has been difficulty with
his walking.
PHYSICAL EXAMINATION: In general, slightly depressed appearing white
male in no acute distress. The blood pressure was 130/80, pulse 90
and regular, afebrile.
Ears, nose and throat examination revealed
his fundi appea red normal . The disc margins were s harp.
Venous pulsations
were present. Tympanic membranes were normal on bo th sides.
Weber
test is midline. There was some diffuse soreness about the right side
of hi s head. There was no evidence of any bruising noted. His EOMs
were full.
Mucous membranes were normal in the mouth. Dental hygiene
okay.
Pharynx not inflamed. Uvula midline.
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NECK: Supple. No decreased range of motion noted in the neck.
thyroid enlargement and no bruits heard in the neck.
CHEST:

No

Clear to auscultation and percussion.

HEART: No murmurs or gallops.
wall tenderness.

PMI midclavicular line.

ABDOMEN: No organomegaly or tenderness.
tenderness. Femoral pulses were two plus.
~~ERNAL

GENITALIA:

Normal.

No

No masses felt.

chest
No CVA

Rectal deferred.

EXTREMITIES: He has slightly decreased grip on the left hand compaTed
to the right, but was somewhat weak on both sides. No atrophy noted
in the extremities.
Pulses were normal in the feet and hands. No
edema of the legs and no calf tenderness.
NEUROLOGICAL:
Cranial nerves two through twelve were intact, except
there was some decrease in pin prick sensation over the entire right
side of the face. This is subjective. I can feel the pin prick.
His
face was symmetric. Deep tendon reflexes were symmetric.
Motor function
grossly symmetric, but grip is slightly decreased on the left, compared
to the right. His fine moto( testing was equal, although slow on both
sides. Cerebellar testing is also normal, but slow on both sides.
His gait w~s within normal limits. He was somewhat unstable when doing
the Romberg test, but this has not affected the closing of his eyes.
Sensation to pin prick is normal bilaterally.
IHPR.ESSION:
History of head injury with decreased hearing
Personality change with marked emotional lability
3. Probable depression

1.
2.

PLAN: Admit the patient to the hospital to rule out neurologic damage
from recent fall, I feel most likely this is psychiatric in nature.
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DATE OF ADMISSION:

10-16-80

DATE OF DISCHARGE:

10-23-80

FINAL DISCHARGE DIAGNOSIS:
1.

Depression.

REASON FOR ADMISSION: This 47 year old, white male admitted to the hospital
due to right-sided head pain, decreased memory, and crying spells. He
had been followed in Bristol by a Ears, Nose, and Throat doctor and also
by the Bristol Mental Health Center. He had been doing poorly and his wife
called me for evaluation.
PERTINENT PHYSICAL FINDINGS: Slightly depressed, white male in no distress.
Blood pressure 130/80. Afebrile.
EARS, NOSE, AND THROAT:

(

NECK:

Supple.

CHEST:
ABDOMEN:

Clear.

Unremarkable.

No nodes in neck.

Disk margins sharp.

Thyroid normal size.

No murmurs or gallops heard.

/ ·

Unremarkable.

EXTREMITIES: Shows a slight decrease in grip left side compared to right.
Both grips are weak, however.
NEUROLOGICAL: Shows a subjective decrease in pinprick in the entire
right side of face. Deep tendon reflexes are symmetric. Cerebellar testing
is normal. His gait was slow and tends to fall to the side, but recovers
quickly.
COURSE IN THE HOSPITAL : The patient is admitted to the hospital and x-ray
studies ordered. His chest x-ray was normal. A CT scan of t he head was done,
was negative. A regular brain scan was done, it was negative. Tomo grams of internal
auditory canals were.·:done ;:::.w ere. negat i\.~e.
LABORATORY DATA: All within normal limits. He was very slightly anemic
with a hemoglobin of 13.9 with normal indices. Reticulocyte was 1.3 percent.
The serum Iron and TIBC showed both of these to be borderline low indicating
probably a nutritional anemia because of the de1pression. ~.~~~!s were
..
negative for blood.
~.}};:] -~ ~;:;,.:,;·~~-'::-"
~~~-·..,.,.,_,.....,. ___
_...__--·
DISCHARGE SUMMARY
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SHAFFER, ERVIN
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DATE

The patient was seen initially for consultation by Dr. Winsor,
who fe l t his main problem was depression , but su ggested a psychiatric
consultation, EEG, and brain scan. Also had Radiology ~valuation.
He was seen by Dr. Cowden, who felt that most of this was probably
functional . It was felt that he did have some organic loss present,
but that the functional component would be at this time a contra indication
fo r any surgery. He was seen in consultation by Dr. Robinson also.
Dr. Rob inson felt this patient had a depre~sion which be gan as a
traumatic neurosis.
~

- --- - - - - -

The patient was maintained on antidepressants here in the hospital.
At the request of Dr. Robinson, he was transferred to Indian Path Hospital
for further psychiatric testing and in-patient treatmen~ .
DISPOSITION: The patient was transferred to Indian Path to the care
of Dr. Anthony Robinson. Medications as per Dr. Robinson.
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11-24 -80
11-25-80
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JAMES W. WOLFE, M. D.

**Omitted from the record transmitted by the Industrial Commission
to this Court.
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DATE OF CONSULTATION:

ICINGSP'OlT, HNNUSH

10-20-80 ,. '

IDENTIFYING INFORMATION: This 47 year old, married, white male, currently
unemployed, was referred by Dr. Wolfe for psychiatric consultation, apparently
becau ~ e of a normal . neurological work up and depressive appearance.
The
patient complains of headache, nervousne~s, and impaired hearing, as well
as a sense of estrangement.
HISTORY OR PRESENT ILLNESS: This man states that he was in good physical
and emotional health until 7-22-80, when an accident occurre_d a;: work.
He relates fallin~ ~ff of a milk truck that he was cleaning and landing
on a cement floor. He apparently did not lose consciousness, but was
somewhat confused at the time.
He was taken to a hospital, x-rayed and
sent home for three days. . He went back to work for five to six days
and then noticed that his hearing was impaired. He began nervous, "stinging
all over", and dev~loped a headache.
The headache was described as going
from his ears to the back of his neck.
Si~ce that time, he has been
back to Bristol hospital and saw apparently an ENT specialist in the Bristol
arP.a. He also had psychological testing, but it is not clear to me if
he ::;ciw d. psychiatrist as well.
''
Ove r the pasr coupl.e of months , he ~as become increas i ugly :!.rritabl.::,
frequently ~os;s 1iis temper and then feels guilty about it. He describes
his nervou3 conr! t. tion as worsenit•8 and his :he.acache pain wor~ening as
well. Af..2,:er ~.e 'r eturned t::o work briefly, h'e ·d'eveloped trouble falli·:~
asleep Jnd a. res :::~ess sle~', bllt _no historv o~ .:~!'1 v morning awakr::1ing.
He st~l:es wh~fl he trio=.:£ to go to F'l.,~t::p, =~..rie~ln.ng is ot. his mina.
Ps:ogrc.ssiv<!ly,
he has become more nervous and lately he has'' become more depressed, worse
in the evenings.
Without my asking, he volunteered that he had had suicidal
thoughts of taking a gun and overdosing, but he could not figure out why.
These thoughts are quiescent currently, but they seem to be "in the back
of my mind 11 •
He denies any current fears, or any ?ast history of fears.
However,
he has been having dreams lately wnen he is fearful, but he cannot remember
the content. Additionally, he feels somewhat estranged from everyone,
in c luding hi s wife, and cannot understand this. lie has no prior history
of d epres~ion, and there is no family history of this either . He also
den i es any history of drinking or drug abuse. He has had what mi ght be
a type of confusion or miniature fugue state, for example finding himself
crnw I in~ underneath the bed at home nod not knowing why he did this.
One other odd event· ·was that he found himself driving down the wrong side
of the road, decided to stop driving and ·Since then his wife has done
this for him.
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PAST HISTORY AND FANILY HISTORY: He was raised in Hiltons, Virginia,
and currently resides in a home built on the family farm.
Both parents
were deceased and, curiously, he could not remember when they died or
wlmt they died from. He seemed to be blocking when I asked him about
t~1is.
He did relate that his father farmed and worked at Eastman, as
wtll. ~e ~ames from a large family of 14, that· used to be ~uite close,
but since the parents died, they have rarely seen each other.
He dropped out of s .::l•ool in the f,mrtb grade to help his fat.her and then
married arou:-td th: <!ge of 18-19. ~e has no l)i~t;.o!'y of legal trouhlas,
and no mili~ary .;ecvice.
He denie:s seei.tg a · ps:;chiatrist or having ~:ty
family hi·.. tory<. cf ;~·,:;ychiatr~·.:, problems.
~ : .~l'l·
I

~

:.

•••

~: ..:

He describes generally an uneventful life wh~fj .he worked as a carpenter
for many years.
He gave this up because of the lack of work during wintertime.
His wife is 42, alive and well, and is a housewife.
She tends to handle
business and financial matters for the patient.
He has two sons, 17
and 16.
The 17 year old recently dropped out of high school and is looking
for a job. The other son is doing well in school.

(.

For the past six·years, he has work~1 for Flavor Rich and likes the
He relates he has a number of friends there and planned to continue
there indefinitely. In his free time, he likes to farm on the mome
His wife and he do not attend church and he does not so~alize much
the family.

'

job.
working
place.
outside

MENTAL STATUS: This man nppc.'lred slightly· older than the stated n~e nnd
was quite cooperative.
He appeared moderately depressed to the interviewer.
He is not articulate and has trouble expressing himself. He was quite vague
about dates, but did appear · to be trying to answer my questions as best he could.
I noted that throuchout the interview hi s right fi s t wns clinched and at times he
rested his head on his hands in a typical depressive posture.
He was
oriented in three spheres, though he.had trouble remembering the name
of this hospital, and was alert • . demory, both present and remote, was
fairly good, though there were occasional islands of difficulty with recall.
He is not psychotic, i s not paranoid and has never hallucinated.
He
describes his mood as generally anxious and depressed.
He comes across
as being extremely passive and highly dependent, especially on his wife.
lie also s eemed to have n rather limite.u in::ell~cl: , pos sibly within the
borderline mental retardation range.
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DIACNOSTJ~

1.

..

~

lMPilliSSlCN:

Dep:c essive -, n~urosis

:·;j

c .:;

-i

'

;·t;r, 1- .

·'
PROGNOSIS AND RECOMMENDATIONS : Since his CAT scan , EEG and neurological
testing are normal, I think it is unlikely that he sustained a head injury.
It would be interesting ~o obtain the results of the psychological testing .
if , ind eed, that was done, to see whether any thing showed up there of
an organic nature. It is always possib~.e that _there might be a mild organic
impairment.
However, generally, he strikes me as being of rather low
average intellect. It would seem, by the information on the chart, that
he may have some conversion symptomatology, though I do not think this
is the primary diagnosis.
Given his history, it seems like this started
out as a traum~tic neurosis (so called) that has progressed to a depressiv e
illness. This is quite typical with this problem, and is usually seen
in passive dependent individuals with no prior his tory of emoti onal i mpairme nt.
I would wonde r if he was not building towards a n early middle aged depression
and this accident may have triggered the onset.

("·

In any case, I think he needs further in-patient treatment for depression
and should be transferred to our unit at Indian Path whenevc:r you coxe
finished with his work up.
He seemed to accept this ·and be somewhat
appreciative of the need for treat~ent . In, the meantime, I would continue
him on his medication and p os s ibly gradually increase his Elavi l.
I
expect he will need extensive supportive treatment while ,in the hospital
and then considerable ·outpatient follow up. Despite this, he may possibly
not get well enough to return to work, as I think he is ge tting a lot
of secondary gain from his illness.
Thank you for referring this man to me. I will wc~t to hear from you
abou t possible transfer to the unit at Indi~u Pa th.
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NAME:

E~UCATIQN:

TEST ADMINISTERED:

.INGSP'OIT. llNNfSSU

DATE EVALUATE;: lf-27-11
EVALUATEID SY: ltnill G. Hi~rs, ~h.J.
REFE~RED aY: AnthQny H. ~e~insen, M.l.

Hirell
5-29-33
~th !raGe

SHAFF£~.

BI~THIATE:

· -- - - - - -

Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale
Rorschach Technique
Bender Visual Motor Gestalt Test
House-Tree-Person Test

Mr. Shaffer saw Dr. Wolfe due to complaints of headaches, nervousness, impaired hearing .
and to a sense of estrangement. The neurological medical results were negative.
He indicated that he was in good healtn until July 22, 1980, when he fell
from a milk truck while cleaning it. Since then he has become irritable and
looses his temper . He volunteers that he has had suicidal ideation and 2
short-term fugue--like states.
Mr. Shaffer was generally cooperative but nonverbal except when answering
questions. He tended to look down and away from the examiner. On occasions,
he closed his eyes and rested his chin on his hand. He breathed heavily
intermittently. His affect was flat to depressed and he appeared sleepy
peri odi ca lly. On the similarity subtest of the Wechs 1er Seale he gave "differences."
He demonstrates left hand--left eye dominence preference. Motivation for
testing i~ questionable.
TEST RESULTS
Mr. Shaffer attained a verbal scale IQ of 63, a performance IQ of 57, and
a consequent full scale IQ of 58 . As a resu lt he is functioning within
the mild mentally reta rded range of intelligence. His subtest scores ranged
from a low of 0 in the simi larit ies and picture completion subtest to a high
of in the comprehension subtest. His verbal subtest average is 3.3 while
his performance subtest average is 1.7. His perceptual -motor coordinatio n
i s inferiorly and cha racteristic or mild neurological dysfunctioning influenced
by high anxiety levels.
Mr. Shaffer's ties to reality are fair and he is sufficiently oriented in
the spheres. His ego is exceedingly weak and he is basically passive--dependent
in his persona lity patterns. He tends to be aloof from others and has difficulty
maintaining emotional controls. His moods may vary significantly .
CONCLUSIONS
Mr. Shaffer 's intellectual potential probably lies within the upper limits
of the borderline mental retarded range of inte lligence. He is not performing
commensurate to that suggested potential due to l ack of motivation in associated
with probable secondary gain and due to the passive--dependent personality
orie nt ation . He does demonstrate some eypochondrj_ca1 and- anxiety_ r:e a ctio~
fe~ur:es .E_l_ong with his depression: ··· ·His pattern is also 1nd1cative of mild
neuro 1ogi ca·l- deficTt -funcl1"om ng.
PSYCHOLOGICAL TEST REPORT

~

INDIAN PATH HOSPITAL

MEDICAl llCOI:U

KINGSI"'IT, TfNNESSH

SHAFFER. Harold
Page 2
The diagnosis is mild mental retardation overlaying a basic passive--dependent
personality w~ich Qrobably received psychological insult as a re sult of his
recent accident that caused a depressiv.esituational reaction. He may best
be treated minimally through reality therapy and chemotherapy. The prognosis
for genreal improvement is guarded.
-·-· ·· - -
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SHAFFER, Ervin Harold
05-73-99
ADMISSION: 10-31-80
IDENTIFYING INFORMATION: This 47-year-old married white male was referred by Dr.
Wolfe for psychiatric consultation after a neurological work-up was found to be
normal and the man was noted to be quite depressed. The patient's complaints were
headache, nervousness, i111paire hearing, and a sense of estrangement.
HISTORY OF PRESENT ILLNESS: This man was in good physical and emotional state
until an accident in July of 1980 where he lost consciousness and was somewhat
· confused. The details are available in Dr. Wolfe's summary and my consultation
on the chart . . Essentially, he went back to work after being taken to the hospital,
and 5 or 6 days later his hearing was impaired and he became anxious. He has not
returned back to work since that time and he has been seen by a number of specialists.
Over the n~nths a depression evolved with increasing irritability, guilt feelings,
anxiety, trouble falling asleep, restless sleep and a depressed mood. He also
had had a sense of estrangment and. occasionally what might be a minature fugue
state or episodes of brief confusion. Over the past few months he has become increasing
dependent and withdrawn.
PAST AND FAMILY HISTORY: He was raised in Southwest Virginia and resides in a home
bui1 t on the family farm. Both parents are deceased, but he can not remember when
they died. He comes from a large family of 14 that was quite close until the family's
decreased. He dropped out of school in the fourth grade to help his father and
married at the age of 19. He has no history of military serv ice or no legal trouble.
He has never seen a psychiatrist before and there is no family history of this.
He apparently lived a rather uneventful life usually as a carpenter. His wife
is 42 and he has two sons 17 and 16. The older son recently dropped out of high
school. The other son is in school and doing well. For the past 6 years he has
worked for FlavorRich . in what so und s like a rather non-demanding job and likes
his job and had no problems with work. He farms some on the home place. He and
his wife and children do not sodalize outside of the immediate family and live
a rather withdrawn life. ·
PAST MEDICAL HISTORY: He has generally been healthy. He was hospitalized for
hemorrhoids last year and a tonsillectomy many years ago. He has no known allergies ·.
to medication, and no unusual childhood illnes ses. He denies smoking and drinking.
REVIEW OF SYSTEMS: Indicated that he had complained of decreased hearing in the
right ear and is frequently dizzy. He also complained of right sjded head pain
off and on throughout the day. Occasiona lly, he has pain in the left shoulder
and weakness in the left arm, and has had difficulty walking. ,!'1 ~;-;.,._
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INDIAN PATH HOSPITAL

KINGSI'OIT, nNNUSU

SHAFFER, Ervin Harold
Page 2
MENTAL STATUS EXAMINAJION: When first seen this man appeared older than his stated
age. He was cooperative and quite passive. He comes across as depressed, but
is articulate and can not express his feelings. He was quite vague about dates,
though he seerned to be answering questions as best he could. He rested his head
on his hands is a typical depressive posture and clenched his right fist frequently .
He was oriented and alert. Memory generally seemed to be good though he had occasional
islands of difficulty with recall. There were signs of parnoia, delusions or hallucinations. He described his mood as anxious and depressed. He seems to have a
rather limited intellect which has been confirmed now with psychological testing
with an IQ of 58.
PHYSICAL EXAMINATION:
chart.

This was done by Dr . Wolfe at Holston Valley and is on the
'.

DIAGNOSTIC IMPRESSION:
1. Depressive neurosis.
2. Borderline mental retardation.
PROGNOSIS AND RECOMMENDATION: This man was transferred to Indian Path Hospital
for further treatment of depressive illness . At the t ime of this dictation he
has responded somewhat but still has somatic complaints.
His anxiety was not
handled with Ativan and Navane was .added. Elavil has been raised to a total of
25 mgs.
Over-all prognosis is somewhat guarded, and I am afraid that he may descend
into a compensation type of neurosis.

AHR/jr
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BRISTOL REGIONAL MENTAL HEALTH CENTER. INC.
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PHONE 968-1681
AonaiCI Harrington, M . A.
ACimlnltlratlve Director

H . H . Bocklan , M .D .
Cllnl~l D irector
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25-CN-1744-N
Harold E. Shaffers vs. Dairymen/Flav-0-Rich, Inc.

Dear Ms. Franklin:
I initially met with Mr. Shaffer on 9-16-Bo, as a referral from hie local
medical doctor, Dr. Robbins. He had vent to see Dr. Robbins originally
following a head injury on July 22. According to Mr. Shaffer and his wife,
he experienced hearing loss and pain folloving that injury. In addition,
he has had episodes of lose of temper vhere he would yell uncontrollably
at family members and guests. There had been verbal threats towards family
members and a great deal of arguments and conflict. He has acted out aggressively
towards property and has generally been irritable. During the past two months,
he has lost weight and experienced hot flashes and episodes of excessive
prespiration. He has poor sleep at night and has a very unsteady gait.
Psychological testing, consisting of the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale,
the Bender Motor Gestalt Test, and the Graham-Kendall Memory for Designs,
was administered on 9-23-Bo, 9-26-Bo, and 9-30-Bo. The results of the testing
indicated a full scale IQ score o! 65, which according to the American Psychiatric
Association qualifies him for the diagnosis of Mild Mental Retardation. The
testing all seemed to indicate mild to moderate organic impairment, and was
indicated in the profile of the ~AIS, the presence of reversals, rotations,
and other errors in the drawings.
Although our testing would indicate the presence of Mild Mental Retardation
and also a significant amount of organicity, we have no way of determining
whether these deficits are a result of the accident on July 22, 198o; and we
do not have an opinion regarding whether that accident was causative of his
present condition. Since Mr. Shaffer has only. a 4th grade education, it is
likely that he has never functioned at ~high level intellectually, but there
is no evidence to document this.
" e would recommend further and extensive neuropsychological testing in order to
determine whether there is organic brain damage present. We feel that the
results of our interviews and psychological testing indicate a need for further

18
.A Non -Profit Ct~mprehensive Center
Serving Johnson & Sullivan Counties, Tennessee, Metro Bristol Tennessee· Virginia,
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Jane Franklin

November 3, 198o
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evaluation.
Please feel free to contact me if I may be of any further assistance.
Respectfully,

M~~&.~~~~ rf14.
Psychological Examiner
Director, Adult Outpatient Services

~~~~

c.

Leon McGahee, M.D.
Psychiatrist

MJH/awh
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Har~ ,d

IDENTIFYING INFORMAT: ui\ ; This 47-year-old i~oJrneJ ·. 4hite male was !'"eferred by ii\]'sel7
t o thi s hos pi t al for treatment of depres s: ve neurosis after I had seen him in consultati on
a t Holston Valley Hospital.
HISTORY OF PRESENT ILLNESS: This man was in good physical and emotional state
of mind until an accident in 1980 when he lost consciousness and became confused.
He returned to work and became anxious and no~ed hearing impairment. He had not
been back to work s i nce that time and was af~aid to go to work . Over the past
few months a depression evolved manifeste~ by increased irritabil-ity , guilt, anxiety.
t rouble falling asleep. restless sl eep, and depressed mood. Dr . Wolfe asked me
to see him at Holston Valley which I did and I felt that he needed to be transferred
here for further treatment.
PHYSICAL EXAMINATION:

Not performed as it was done at Holston Valley recently.

LABORATORY DATA: EKG was within normal limits . FTI was normal. Amitriptyline
and Nortriptyline blood levels were ~ell within therapeutic range.
Other laboratory
t ests were not performed as they had recently been done at Ho 1stan Va 11 ey. ·
HOSPITAL COURSE:

The

~tient

was admitted to the si xth floor.

His medications

o f Elavil were increased to 125 mgs . h.! . and he wa gi ven Ativan 2 mgs. q.i.d.

Later on because of persistent anxiety Havane was added and increased to 5 mgs.
q.i . d. with good results. This man parti cipated in gr oup psychotherapy. six times
a week and was seen daily by his psychiatrist. He al so partic~pated in occupational
dnd rec reational therapy.
His hos pital co urse wa s rather uneventful. Ini'Ci1lly, he was rather closed mouth,
but became more i n depth at expressi n9 himself i 1 group therapy. Mos t of his symptc.us
0f depressi on abated. He had severa l pass which ~ent quite well. By the ti me
he wa s discharged, he was ina highly positive n~od and looking forward to returning
to work.
.
While in the hospital he was seen by Or. Hiers who did a full scale IQ of 58. Jt
wa s felt that his potential, however, was in the upper levels of the borderline
tr.ental retard ation range. He was seen as somewhat hypochondriacal ,and passive
depen dent and al so had a pattern indi cative of mild neurological deficit functioning.
Or . Hiers recon~1e nd e d reality therapy and chemo t he rapy wi th a guar ded progn os is.
fiNAL DIAGNOSIS:
1.
QE'L: i"ess ive 11 eur os is.
'?.
Borde1·!ine ment al status retardat i on.
CONDITION UPON

DISC~ARGE:

Improved.

PROGNOSIS:
1. Guarded.
DISCHARGE

S U;"l~ARY
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DISPOSITION: Mr. Shaffer will continue on his medications and see me in mY office
within the next two weeks.

..

..

AHR/jr
0: 11-25-80
T: 11-25-80
cc: Dr. Wo1fe.

,
~H. Robinson
.
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DENNIS C . CHIPMAN . loi . O . . P . C .
;,:NTHONY H . ROBINSON, M . D .. P . C .

GENERAL. AND HOSPITAL. PSYCHIATRY
PSYCHOTHERAPY
PSYCHOL.OGICAL. TESTING
CHIL.O AND ADOL.ESCENT SERVICES
HYPNOTHERAPY

OI~LOMATf:S ANa .. ICAH a 'OA"O

0 ' ~YCHIAT"Y AHO NI:UIItOLOCY

DONAL.D G . HIERS. PH . D .

BY A ...-OIHTMIIHT

CLINICAL ~SYCHOLOOiaT

KAREN A . CHIPMAN , M . S.W.
PaYCHIATIItiC 80CIAL WO"K

.... -

PSYCHIATRY ASSOCIATES
INDIAN PATH PROFESSIONAL. BUIL.DING

11120 BROOKSIDE DRIVE
KINGSPORT. TENNESSEE 371515-4
T&Lit,.HONit Cll5/2-4e-33111

January 28, 1981
Ms. Jane Franklin
Kemper Insurance Company
P. 0. [jox 7637
Roanoke, VA 24019
RE: Harold Shaffer
Dear Ms Franklin:
I am replying to your request for an up date on my patient Harrold Shaffer .
Mr. Shaffer was discharged from Indian Path Hospital i·n mid November 1980, ~
his first office visit was on 12/2/80, and at that point he was increasingly
anxious, irritable and depressed. H~ clearly looked worse than when he had b n
discharged from the hospital . He had continued on his medication, however.
He had been advised to start psychotherapy with our social worker and he met
·
with him on 12/10/80. Our social worker also met with his wife and this confirmed
that Mr. Shaffer was becoming more depressed and withdrawn than when he was
discharged from the unit. His wife confirmed that he had temper outbursts and
at times his behavior was somewhat inappropriate. The following week Mr. Shaffer did
not keep his appointment with the social worker. I saw him again on 12/23/80,
he seemed somewhat sedated from his medication and they had to be decreased.
At that point he seemed a little less anxious and somewhat more optimistic.
His most recent appointment was on 1/20/81, where he complained of numbness in
his hands for the past two weeks. He was advised to continue taking his
medication an~ to again see Mr . Brown for psychotherapy. His medications at
that appointment were Librium 25 mg. tid, Navane 5 mg. qid and Elavil 100 mg.
hs. On 1/27/81, our social worker had a conference with Mr. Shaffer and his wife.
He is feeling somewhat less nervous and his temper is under better control . He
is sleeping and eating well . He is fairly inactive at home and is rather
dependent on his wife. His wife reported that he is starting to resume more
responsibility at home. He also was talking about wanting to return to work
in th~ near future, but did not feel able at the time of the appointment .
My understanding of the developments of his psychiatric complaints are as
follows : He suffered the accident in July of 1980, and though feeling
somewhat anxious he decided to return to work as he had been reassured that
he was alright physically. Within a short period of time a~xiety _ developed
~.~ ..-~

~i:-!

;•

.,.:· ;

,'\~E.

l I.

{E :_Har.:·ald Shaffer

similar to what is seen in a traumatic neurosis. This then degenerated in time
fnto a depress1Ve condition . This is quite common with peopl who suffer severe
injuries or close calls with death. There is a rat~~_r_9e1a.Y~<Lr~?ponse, but
c~y the anxiety~~eRression were related to the injury. One might note
that he had no previous history prior- loth1sac~1dent:- · Younave asked about his
borderline mental retardation. First I woul like to say that I don't think
the testing is completely accurate because in a depressed conditio~e IQ will
always be lower than its true value . However, it is cl ear that Mr . Shaffer
has a rather li mited intellect and therefore has fewer resources to fall back
upon in times of stress. However, I do not think one can "blame" his psych iatri c
condition on his limited intellect. Therefore I think I can say with some
certainty that the depression and the an x1ety-aeveln~d as a dirrect result of the
acc1 dent.
Fortunately it appears that Mr. Shaffer is improving and wishes to re t urn to
work in the near future ! I will probably .be seej_r1_9. him in the nex.L..se vera l .
weeks and if he feels . well enough to return to work, we will give him a letter
of release-aCthaLtime.,.
· · -·· ·- -·· ·- -

·-. ...

I hope this letter answers most of your questions . I am also eager to have this
s&tled as his claim was filed about two months ago and I would li ke to see some
action on it.
Very trul y yo4rs,
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February 10, 1981

To Whom It May Concern:
Ervin Harold Shaffer has been hospitalized at Indian Path Hospital under my
care from 10/20/80 to 11/16/80 and has been seen in the office on si x
occasions since that time and is now released to return to work on Wednesday,
February 18, 1981.
Sincerely,

l~ v\5\~"-(h.._\ ~- ~A~\...--:.~)~-.. .
Anthony H. Robinson, M.D.

/1A.
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OTOLARYNGOLOGY
FACIAL PLAST IC SU RGERY
A PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION

HEAD AND NECK SURGERY

249 MIDWAY STREET
BRISTOL. TENNESSEE 37620

C LAUDE H. CROCKE TT, JR. , M.D., F . A .C.S.
NELSON E. LINK , M.D., F . A.C.S.
JEFFREY P. ROBBINS, M.D., F . A.C . S.

(615) 968-2732

JOHN C . SNYDER, JR. , M.A., C.C. C .A.
Cert i fied Clinical Audi olog•s l

~1ay

19, 1981

S. Strother Smith I I I
117 U. Main Street
P. 0. Box 1204
Abingdon, Virginia 24210
Re:

,r

EY><~i n Shaffer
Hiltons, Virginia

Dear Mr. Smith:
Mr. En'>'in Shaffer came into my professional life August 8, 1S80, \'~ith the
following story. In the course of his employment as a driver for a local
dairy he fell off the truck, striking the right side of his head. This
occurred approximately on July 22. He was seen and e xamined in the emergency
room at Bristol Memorial Hospital and was diagnosed as having a contusion of
the right shoulder and a cerebral concussion. He was not hospitalized. He
\'las give n the usual precautionary information and a llowed to return home.
~p pro x imately 2 weeks after the initial in~ident and emerge ncy room visit,
:·1r. Shaffer returned to the Bristol Memorial Hospital emergency room, statin9
he caul d not hear from his right ear and was subsequent ly referred to li'e C~:-.d
eventuated with the Au gust 8 appointment. At th at time he 'flas also complninin'J
o f pain and t~nder:-"~ss along the :'"i~nt side of his heaa and ear. When I saw
this 9entlem.!11 on A:1gust 8, he: indeed gave evidence of a significant hea r ing
loss in tho'> rigr~ t ear~ ~resumably d:.ie to trauma~: ic disarticula.tion of ,the
ossiculaY cha·i .1 . l-Ie also ~'id rather marked tenderness from br-uising·~~ the
right t:e!mporoman·ti bul ar .~'J ·i 1t. I ;-'rescri bed $nl"'le •uu:icl ~ relax ant .;herapy
for h·;s TM jo·i,ri: bruise and fol lo\lted th1s jentleman in n•.f office. Over tht!
course of the next seve ral \'ieeks, 1·eports, mos t ly from Mr..s. Shaffer, reached
me that Mr . Erwin Shaffer was demonstrating marked aberrant and violent behavior.
He confessed that he felt very jittery and nervous and could not control his
temper. His wife informed me thai: she was afraid to be alone with him and
feels he has undergone marked personality changes and behavioral changes since
the occurance of the original heud trulJTla . In evaluation of this newly voice d
complaint tornogl~ams of the skull we~ obtained anc..l f ailed to reveal any evidence
of a skull fracture. ACT scan of the head was al s o totally \'lithin normal li mits.
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.1 \dditional audiometric testing was perfonned on these visits and 111any inconsis-:
tencies were present, both in th~ clinical and audiometric testing, making the
exact diagnosis of his hearing loss more dubious. Because of his emotional
or behavioral abnormalities without objective neurologic or intracranial
:Jathology, Mr. Shaffer was referred to Bristol Mental Health Clinic in early
September, 1930. It was also our desire at that time to refer him to a dental
practitioner for therapy of his jav-1 .joint bruise; hm-1ever, ~lr. Erwin Shaffer·
did not follm-1 this recommendation. tk . ~haffer· was seen at the Bristol ~~ental
~ealth Clinic; however, we nEver received~ repo~t of their findin~s and
recorrrnendations. ~1e last saw this qentler;~;:.n on October 9, 1988, at which time
he 1-1as sti 11 havi no a 11 of the abov·e mentioned orob 1ems. Because of the
emotional difficu(ties of an unresolved nature, · v1e did not fEel any surgical
attempt at ex~lorin~ his ear in hopes of correctin~ the hearing ioss was
indicated at that time. Su~sequently ~rs. Shaffer notified our office t~at
they loJished his records transferred to a Dr. James \·Iolfe in Gate City, Virginia,
and this was accomplished.
r.:<

On ~1a.v 1 S~ r~r. Shaffer~u.r:ne..<Lto_ou.r:........o.ff_ice~- informing me that he has had
nervous"' breakdowr1~md was hos~itiil i zed in Kingsport. t~hil e in Kingsport
a~narently he had seen an ear physician; however, Mr. Shaffer cannot recall
t~is gentleman's name nor does he have any idea as to the natur~ of his findings.
~~ a1sa ~as had further audiometric evaluation in Kingsport and it was their
recomm2ndation that he have additional testing. On clinical examination t~e
ears loo ked perfectly healthy as of this date : His clinical and auc!in~:.··;._
responses ar.:: still inconsistert; ho11ever, v1e feel that there is a significant
hearing lo~s in •.ne right eur and t~; is a possibility that this is a
correctab~c: lC?c:-.icn. 5eci:!use of the L{ ons ·isten.:T~as m~ntioned abo ·; 2, I
cannot rr.dke mo.-~ exact my ':';i:!~nos ·is and locaticn for this hearing ~os~. In
t '1eor~: it is pot.t:ntia11 .:r purtiall:t ~· c:--!""'C:t~ble~ ho.-1ever. in mo:;~ ::.itLJations
\oJhen there is traumatic disruption of the hearing apparat:us, t:,e findings
are fT!Ore consistent. l~ith this information backed by his recent and ;:>ersent
history of emotional instability, I am certainly reluctant to recommenasurqery
at this time. Enclosed with this letter are several of his ~ertinent x-ray
studies and his audiometric evaluations.

a

~1y

charge for preparinl) this report i:; $25.00.

Sini~Y~~l
Jeffrey P. Ro~bins,
JPR/k\oJ
Enclosures: 5

M. D.
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June 5, 1981

Ms. Jane Franklin
Kemper Group
5306 Peters Creek Road
P. O. Box 7637
Roanoke, VA 24019
RE:

Harold Ervin Shaffer

Dear Ms. Franklin:
I am replying to your letter of June 3, 1981, requesting information on my
patient, Harold E. Shaffer. I would like to point out to you that you did
not se nd to usual physician's release form in your letter of April 2 and
that my secretary was in contact with your office requesting that you send
thi s to us so we could forward you the necessary information. Therefore,
the delay is entirely the fault of your company. I would also like to add
tlrat I do not 1 ike the tone of your letter and find that you have a very
hostile attitude.
on March 12 and told me at that point that he ~t
reasons I did not understand . He had some trouble
s eep1ng and was qu1te 1rr1table. At that po1nt he d1d want to return to
work. His medications were librium 25 mg. tid, Navane 5 mg. qid and Elavil
100 mg . hs. He was not seen again in my office again until_May 4, 1981,
l·!hen he informed me he had a 1ready returned to work. He was working the
night shift and had some anxiety but apparently was managing himself. He
had decrea sed his Elavil to 50 mg. because it was making him sleepy. He
continued to have sane irritability but in general seemed to be handling
hirnself better. At that point I dec ided to discontinue the Elavil and
co ntinue him on Navane 5 mg. tid and librium 25 mg. tid. Hi s next appointment
i s scheduled for mid-June.
r~r. Shaffer was seen
~Jawed t.c :,. •ork, for

It is impossible for me to predict how long he will need to be treated.
H01·1cver, I would expect he will ned to be seen peri dically in my office
fot' at lea st the next year. His ro nosis has 1mproved <but with the l evel
of probl ems he has ·experi enced I _!D.i nk _this con_ctiti.o.n.2Q.1J . .rema_im_..<;hr.oni<;._.

'

{l
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hope this letter will answer your questions and that you will forwa ;_- the
proper forms in the future if you expect a prompt reply .
Very truly yours,
'

(

:

•'

,_

.. :.

Anthony H. Robinson, M.D.

AHR/crh

./
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form NO 46-.lA- 'l91 l718Q-60M

.-

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA
DEPARTMENT OF WORKMEN'S COMPENSATION

INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION OF VIRGINIA
P. 0. BOX 17~
RICHMOND, VIRGINIA 23214

ICI! 675-38 3

Harold E. Sha.f.fer

Claim tv u m.ber__
2_;_5_-_C_N_-_1_;_7_4_4_-_N_

Employee

and

_D_a_1_r~y_
m_e_n_;_/_F-'1-'a-'-v_-_O_;_-_R_1-'-c_h~'--I-'-n_c-'-.-'---~Employer

Da!e of Accident

1-2 2-8 0

AGREED STATEMENT OF FACf
lt

i~

agreed that the employee (returned to work) or

wrrk.ly wage of $

191 • 2 0

(:JQOC«~JfdUt"~:X.:.OJlt)

3-17

on

, 19~, at an average

. The outstanding a ward is terminated on the above date subject to approval by the

y

Industrial Commi5sion. The employee may reopen the cbim ptusuant to § 65.1-99. SEE NOTE REWW

o,,,

of Ag=m<ot/ )

.._

j2-

Dairymen/Flav-0-Rich, Inc .

Employ~ or In 1•.m r

NATL. LOSS CONTHOL SERv •

/Branch

at$

__7:._-_2"-3~-~8"-0_____

through

1 2·r. 4 7

---"'-3_-=1..::::6_-....::8-=1=--.----·

Claim Mgr.

per week from

Medical E x p e n s e $ - - - - - - - - - -

NOTE : The: signin~ of the above ag reement is not a requirement for paymmt. This agreement is neithe r a receipt for money
no r a release of claim. Should further dis2bility result, the claim can ht' reopenrd hy writtec application received by the Indus' rial Commission within twenty-four months from the last date for which compe nsation was paid ; howeve r, at a heuing on
1 he application, compens~tion cannot begin more than 14 days prior to the date of filing.

SUPPLEMENTAL MF.MORANDUM OF AGREEAffim.
It is agreed th at on _ _ ____:...,__ _ _ , 19_ _ , the employee (lost)

·~

per cent of the

/ ; //
..· /

OR
h'l rf "\ r h -,nna i n

D \ •P r.,tUtt

\11,..,..\clv

W:\OP

nf $

In~

/

'

/
(had permanent 16ss g!-ose of) _ _ _ __ __
- ~.
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TRANSCRIPT OF HEARING ON 9-9-81

I

l i?.ROLD E. SHAFFER, ·claimant
BY MR. SMITH:
Q.

Mr. Shaffer, just for the record so there is no auestion
about that, when did you have your injury and where were you
when you had it?

A.

Flav-0-Rich in Bristol, Virginia.

Q.

And, when did this occur?

A.

July the twenty-first in 1980, I believe it was.

Do you recall?

MR . SMITH:
Your Honor, I would like to mention that there was possib :
a wrong statement on the application.

I might have had '81.

If it was '£1 it should be '80.
BY MR. SMITH:
Q.

Alright, now.

A.

I was washing the milk truck and we have what they call
Harold E. Shaffer, Claimant
30 -3 -

And, what exactly happened?

: ~

an automatic washer and I went up to take it out.

And,

as I was taking it out and hanging 'it up and then started down,
my feet went out from under me.
Q.

And, you fell?

A.

Yes, s1r.

Q.

And, what happened when you fell, did you injure a part of
your body?

A.

I hit on my right side and I'm having difficulty in my ri g ht
ear • . hearing.

Q.

Now before that, did you ever have any problems about
working • • • did you work regularly?

J.. •

Yes, sir.

Q.

Every day?

A.

Yes, sir.

Q.

And, after that, have you had problems working since then?

•'A..

Yes , sir •

Q.

Alright, now, I believe that you were paid Compensation up
until March of '81 is that right?

A.

I believe that's right.

Q.

And, what happened, if anything, in March of '81?

Did you

go back to work?
A.

Yes, sir.

Q.

And, how long did you stay back at work?

A.

I'd say I approximately worked from the middlP of March
p r o bably to . . . let's see . . . aboul along the first nf
June, I believe

Q.

the fourth • . • along there somewhere.

And, what happened, if anything, in June when you stopped

31_ 4 _
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working?

A.

My nerves began to react more often and my condition or
my nervous

condition .

. . I felt I was no·

longer able to

do my job and therefore, I resigned.

(-::.

Q.

Well, why was that that you felt you were no longer able
to do your job?

A.

Well, due to my nervous conditions, I . . . well, due to . the
ones that I worked with . . . the men that I worked with,
I

didn't want to . . . . my nerves could cause me to set off

a reaction and therefore, my reaction . . . I didn't want
to .
Q.

~fuat

A.

Well, something like a . . . well, I don't know what words

kind of reaction are we talking about?

to put it anyhow

Q.

Did he call it a change in . your personality or the way you
react to people?

(

A• .

A personality change and therefore .

Q.

And, how did your personality change?

A.

Well, it changed very
anyone approached me .

.

in a way that .

. . if

. or if I thought they approached me

the wrong way or wrong things or something or other .

.

. I

that it. · . • I knew i t woUld then be that I wasn't able to
cope with i t and therefore I felt that I wasn't able, therefore .
to .

Q.

And, if you weren't able to cope with this, what did you do?

A.

Well, •

Q.

What happened to you?

A.

I explode .

In other words , just like a • • . a temper a nd
Harold E. Shaffer, Claimant
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you can't control . • .
Q.

Vou get very violent?

A.

Violent and, therefore •

Q.

Had you had any of these similar problems at home?
Where you just couldn't control yourself, you would become
v iolent ?

A.

Yes .

Q.

And, were y ou . . . in June of 1981 did you have to start
taking drugs aqain to keep yourself under control?

A.

Well, I never did get off of them really.

I have been on

them . . • .
Q.

Did you at one point try to take an overdose of these drugs?

A.

Yes, sir.

c.

Why was that?

A.

Well, it was depression that come on me and I felt that
I h ad nothing yet to live for and therefore my . .

. this

t ype of attitude took me over and
Q.

Had you ever had any of these problems before you hit your
head?

A.

No, sir.

Q.

Never had this depression nor never had problems about
controlling your temper when you were around other people?

A.

No, sir.

Q.

Now,

when you are at work at Flav-0-Rich, do you have to

·work around other people?
~

Ye s, sir.

Q.

And, is there stress on the job that you do?

What kind of

Harold E . Shaffer, Claimant

job is it that you do?

A.

Well, when I went back I was doing another job . . • but
my regular job that I was on approximately seven years was
what they call receiving milk.

And, in receiving milk you

had to cope with all of the drivers that carne in and you was
definitely . • . you made contact with them.

And, then after

the accident, I went back to work say the two months or
two months and a half approximately that I · worked, I was
transferred to a . .
made plastic jugs.

. what they call a

blow-mold

And, therefore, we bagged them.

that
So,

I worked with three more guys.
Q.

And, did you have trouble working with these men?

A.

No, I didn't have any trouble working with them.
along real good but there was times that things .
they would possibly would cause me ; .
this.

.

oi

We got
. seemed

leading up to

And, by me seeing this . . now I didn't want th i s

to happen so as it moved on me • . . I said .
rather than to .

. . to resign

. .

Q.

Was this building up on you?

A.

Yes,

at times I would feel it come on me and I would then
well, if I could get out to myself or something or

other then I would kind of let it • . • (inaudible) . . . b u t
I felt that I would explode and, therefore, my best ability t h
I could do was to resign.
0-

To resiqn?

A.

Yes, sir.

Q.

Now , you used the word cope several times.
taking .

Have you been

been gettinq FSychiat ric treatment .

34

7-

~oing

Harold Shnffer, Claimnnt

to therapy sessions and things of that sort?
A.

Yes, sir, I have been going.

Q.

Does the psychiatrist use the word cope?

A.

Well, sir . . • I don't .

Q.

You don't know where you got that from?

A.

No, sir.

Q.

Now, in connection with this build-up of tension and the
explosion. . • did you actually have some instances where this
occurred • • maybe not on the job but • • that you could feel
the building up and you would actually explode?

A.

Yes.

Q.

And, where did this happen?

A.

It would happen at home.

Q.

Did you get violent with members of your family?

A.

Yeah.

Q.

And, have you been in the hospital on several occasions?

A.

Yes, sir.

I was in the hospital . . I believe it was

Holston Valley, • . and then from there to Indian Path.
And, did you also go to the Bristol Mental Health Clinic

Q.

and get some treatment and help there?
A.

Yes, sir.
MR. SMITH:

Let's see just a second.
DEPUTY

COMMIS~IONER

COSTA :

Let's g o off the record and let him • . •
OFF RECORD
BY

Q.

HR.

S?-aTH :

And you had never had any problems li k e this before your
Harold Shaffer, Claimant

accident in 1980?

A.

No, sir.

Q.

No felt uptight like you would explode or become violent
with fellow workers or ?

A.

No , I got along with them whenever . . . I mean , for practicall•
seven years.

and.

Q.

And, do you know what the word estranged means?

l\ .

I don't know the definition.

Q.

Do you sometimes feel separated from people?

That you

can't . . . that you are sort of in a world by yourself?

A.

Yes, sir.

Q.

And, that they are coming in on you?

A.

Yes , sir.

Q.

And, your reaction when you feel this is what?

A.

Wel l, I want to pull away from myself and be alone.

Q.

And, if you can't be alone . . . what happens?

A.

vlell,

That's the impression that I get too.

I try ·to do is lay down

. or get some rest or

something like that .

Q.

Can you do that on the job that you worked for .

. Flav-0-

Rich?

A.

No, sir.

Unless you would ask them.

you wouldn't, you know.
Q.

not on my job,

And, therefore, you would bag jugs.

And, as the pressure builds up , do you have any way that
.say the pressure started building up .

. how long during

the course of a shift would it take before the pressure would
start building up to .the point where you felt like you had
to get away or you were going to explode?
work?

How long could you

36
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:.

A.

Well,

Q.

Alright.

A.

Yes.

Q.

And somedays.

( ·

i t will vary

• at times i t would vary.

Some days you could work a full shift?

what would the soonest be before you would

start feeling the pressure and feeling like you were going

·.:

to have to lash out at somebody if you couldn't get away?

A.

Well, i t would vary • . .how hard you worked and according to
the attitude that was around.

Q.

Yeah, but I am talking about . . . the day when you were
working under the most pressure, how long would i t take before
you began to get these feelings that you just had to get
away or you were going to explode and cause somebody some
damage.

be a danger to somebody?

DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COSTA:
Just roughly?

Would i t be an hour or two on the job

or twenty minutes or after lunch?
~ffi.

Or • . • roughly?

SHAFFER:
I would say approximately after I was there about

(.

a couple of hours.
BY MR. SMITH:

Q.

And, then it would start building . . . at the soonest?

A.

Yes .

Q.

Do you feel that you could do any job at Flav-0-Rich?

A.

Well, I

. could . . • with my experience, I can do lots

of jobs, but the thing about it is my condition, you know, I
never know when i t will flare - up on me.

Q.

So, it's not a physical problem that keeps you from working
but it's a problem that you just can't control yourself and
-10Harold Shaffer, Claimant
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you're afraid of hurting your fellow workers?
'P••

Yes, sir.

Q.

Do you have anything else you want to tell the court?

A.

All I want i t justice.

And, that's what I ask for is

justice.
Q.

One tning I do need to add, have you applied for Social
Security Disability?

l-. .

Ye s, sir.

Q.

And, you haven't had a

decision on that I believe, is thut

right?
A.

It's come to a decision (inaudible) but I haven't received
anything .
MR. JOYCE:
Excuse me, wait a minute, I didn't understand the
answer.
DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COSTA:
In other words, he was granted benefits but he hasn't
actually received a check yet.
MR. JOYCF:
Sc, he is

on .~tal

Security?

MR. SMITH:
He will be getting Social Security.
That will be all.
DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COSTA:
Alright. Mr. Joyce.

-11-

Statements

117\ROLD F.. 5!1/\FFER, Claimant
BY HR . JOYCE:
Q.

Mr. Shaffer, your original injury when you fell off of the
truck, you inj u red your neckJshoulder and head, right?

A.

Yes , sir .

Q.

Now, you returned to work . . . • this happened in July of
'80.

correct?

A.

Yes, sir.

Q.

Well, the date is in the file.

Then your doctors rclcnsc

you to return to work on March 17, 1981, is that correct?
P.. •

Yes , sir.

Q.

P.nd, you went back to work then?

A.

Yes, sir .

Q.

That's when you were doing this job of bagging jugs?

A.

Yes, sir.

Q.

That's a pretty easy job isn't it?

A.

Yeah.

It's

. as far as lightness it's easy, but if you

stand there and bag it, then it can really have a bearing on
your nerves if you fight it.
Q.

It's as easy a job as you can invision somebody doing, isn'·t ·
it.?

A.

Yes.

But you have two boys that I work with . . . we would

work thirty minutes at a time and then we would swap jobs
taking them off.

In other words, they come off of a assembly

line and we tried to swap around.
s ometimes an hour

Q.

. . .

In other words we could go

each one of us.

That's so you could do different things
g et so bor e d or something? ,

. .

. you

wouldn't
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A.

Yeah.

.· . one would tie them after you put them in .

(inaudible) . . . the tops in.
Q.

Alright.

Let's give the· Commissioner a little bit of an

idea what this job is.

Tell me if I explain it properly.

As I understand i t these are empty gallon milk jugs . . . plast :
milk jugs, is that right?
P.••

Yes, sir.

Q.

You take these and put them in a plastic bag approximately
forty to forty-eight to a bag, is that right?

A.

Yeah, something like that.

Q.

And, what you do is take them off of the machine, put them
in a bag, tie the bag up and it goes off somewhere else to

•

be shipped?

A.

You catch them four at a time.

Q.

Put them in the bag and then i t goes off to be shipped to
somebody to fill them up with milk or
DEPUTY

CO~~ISSIONER

so~ething

like that?

COSTA:

This is a moving assembly line?
MR . SHAFFER:
Yes.
DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COSTA:
And, you have to grab them four at a time and put them
in the bag?
MR. SHAFFER:
Yes, sir.

If you don't they will crowd up.

In other

words, you have to be good to get them and get them on . .
Alright . . • i t took me .
so~ething

like that.
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was just catching on out already.
DEPUTY

C0~1ISSIONER

COSTA:

Do you make some kind of twisting motion when you take
the four off and put them in a . • • ?
MR. SHAFFER:
Yes.
HAROLD E. SHAFFER, Claimant
BY MR. JOYCF.:
Q.

How fast does the line run, do you know?

A.

I

Q.

Okay.

don't have no idea how fast it runs.
Now, you carne back to work on March 17, '81, you worked

through until June 4, '81, right?
A.

Yes, sir.

Q.

Alright, now, and you worked regular that whole time didn't
you?

A.

I believe I missed a day or two.

Q.

Didn't you • • . you missed one day on a Sunday because your
wife was sick, isn't that right?

A.

No, I can't recall that.

Q.

But you didn't miss much time in other words?

A.

Seems to me like I missed two days • . . being sick myself.

Q.

You think you missed two days during that period from
to June,

ot~erwise

A.

As far as I know, I

Q.

Alright, now.

t-~arch

vou worked full shift the whole time?
think so.

Have you had any other kind of injuries since

you fell off of that truck in July of 1980?
A.

No, sir.

Q.

Have you injured your back at all?
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A.

Well, sir, I picked up a limb or. something since I was off
and my back was strained there I thought for a while, but
outside of that I haven't

Q.

When did that happen?

A.

That was during the time that I was off . • . (inaudible portion)

Q.

Did you seek any medical care for that?

~ .

No, sir.

Q.

Now, this was a limb you picked up at home was it?

A.

Yes, sir.

Q.

Were you cutting fire wood or what were you . • . ?

A.

No, it was just laying on the ground and I bent over and
picked it up.

Q.

And, pulled your back?

A.

Yeah.

Q.

Now, this happened the first of June, 1981, didn't it?

A.

Yes, sir.

Q.

Alright.

the last day that you worked

And, you worked.

was June the fourth of '81 which was a Thursday . . . you got
off on Friday morning?

Right?

A.

I don't remember what morning it was.

Q.

Well, you worked Thursday night, got off Friday morning, and
then didn't work again until Sunday?

Right?

Worked the midnight shift or whatever?
A.

Yes, sir.

Q.

Okay.

So, then it was that weekend that you picked up this

limb and hurt your back at home wasn't it at home?
A.

Along there somewhere.

42
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Q.

It was that weekend, wasn't it?

A.

I don't recall.

Q.

But, it was right along .

• • about the time that you ~uit

working?

A.

Yes, sir.

Q.

Now, did you ever tell your doctors about hurting yourself
picking up that limb?

A.

No, sir.

Q.

Alright, now.

When you . . • you called in then on that

Sunday which would have been June sixth .
seventh.

• • .June the

you called in and talked to the plant manager

and told him that you wouldn't be able to be in because you
hurt your back at home, didn't you?
A.

Yes, I talked to Kelsey.

Q.

Plant Superintendent?

A.

Un huh.

Q.

And, that was on the seventh.

Kelsey Rutherford?

And, then on June the ninth

which was the following Tuesday is when you came in and
resigned?
A.

Yes, sir.

Q.

When you resigned you talked to Mr. Kelsey Rutherford,
Mr. Bill Vine and Mr. Bob Stout, they were all there, is that
right?

A.

Yes, sir.

Q.

And, at that time the reason you gave them for resigning your
employment

was that you got hurt at horne .

• . hurt your back

and that that had upset your nerves and you couldn't work?
Isn't that correct?

43
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A.

Well, I don't • . • the way I recall • • • I explained to them
that my nervous condition and with my back, I was resigning •
. . . . you know.

.o.

Now, you said earlier, I believe, the medication that you were
on continued through the period of time that you were working
after the time you quit working • . I presume continues through
today, is that right?

A. .

Yes, sir.

Q.

So, the medication that you were taking at the first of June
is the same you were taking back

~n

March, April and May, when

you were working, isn't that right?
A.

Well, I don't know it could have varied.

Now, he change d

me back and forth.
Q.

But you were taking basically the same kinds of stuff, r ight?

A.

Yes, sir.

Q.

Okay.

And, in fact, you didn't see a doctor before you

resigned on June the ninth, 1981, did you?
A.

I

Q.

A week before while you were still working?

A.

I

Q.

Alright, now, when you left the rlant on Friday morning

believe I

seen a doctor a week before I resigned.

believe that's right.

(inaudible portion) . • . for sure.

you intended to come back Sunday evening to go back to work
for your regular work shift, didn't you?

A.

When I left that last. . .

Q.

Yeah , when you left that Thursday, yeah.

A.

Yes.

Q.

And, what happened over the weekend was you lifted that bronch
and hurt your back a nd then you didn ' t feel like you could
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work anymore after that on that Sunday, right?
A.

I think I called Kelsey and explained to him.

45

HAROLD E. SHAFFER, Claimant
BY MR. SMITH:
Q.

Mr. Shaffer, you saw a doctor you say about a week

befo~e

you resigned?

A.

Yes, I don't remember the date.

Q.

Was that for your nerves?

A.

Yes.

Q.

And, were you having ,more problems with your nerves, is th a t
the reason you went to see him?

A.

Yes , sir.

Q.

Had you been to see that doctor regularly every week or did
you go the week before you resigned because you noticed that
things were getting worse?

A.

Well, he had me on a monthly base there . . . or sometimes
it was actually closer than that . . . on a trial basis . .

.

(inaudible) .•. see he had never released me and therefore,
he would set dates . . . of couse, through my reaction and
I

would talk

that I
Q.

to him .

. . it's according to my reaction or how

feel that he has me seeing him oftener.

Now, when you saw him the week before you resigned, you had
been feeling worse with your nerves?
MR. JOYCE:
Wait.

I object to him leading the witness.

~
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witness testify.
DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COSTA:
I know you are trying to save time, but • . . . . •
BY MR. SMITH:

Q.

Let me rephrase that.

What effect, if any, did your straining

your back have on your nervous condition?

Did it have any

effect at all?
A.

No, the only effect it had was catching up and down.

Q.

But it didn't effect your nervous condition?

A.

NO.
MR. JOYCE:
Again, I object to him leading the witness.
DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COSTA:
Sustained.

BY MR. SMITH:

Q.

Now, as far as bills that you have had, have you been going
to see Dr. Robinson?

A.

Yes, I see him once a month . . sometimes . . like I said
it's how I vary • • • that I could see him probably less than
a month.

cr.

Alright, now I showed you two pieces of paper and ask you what
they are?

A.

Well, thi s is where the appointments that I had where I have
been seeing him, each one of

those.

Q.

And, do you owe some money to him?

A.

Well, yes , I owe him a hundred and seventy-two dollars.

Q.

And, that's for appointments that have been made since you
went back to work?
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A.

Up to the time that they was paid.

Q.

They were paid up until the time that you went . .
me ask you this.

. let

Were they paid up until the time you

went back to work?
A.

I believe they was paid up till along around March or .

.

.

up in there .
Q.

But, since March , have they been p aid by anybody?

l\ .

No , sir .

·Q.

Alr ight, sir.

Alright.

Now, have you had other doctor

bills that you haven't been able to pay or that haven't
been paid?

A.

Yes.

Q.

And, do you know why they haven't been paid?
MR. J OYCE:

·

I object to him testifying why they haven't been paid.
(inaudible) . . . it would be hearsay evidence.
DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COSTA:
Yeah.

Really, if they are . . . if it's found to be

. as (inaudible)

. . . is found to be related, t hey will

(inaudible portion).

..

MR . JOYCE:
Sure.
MR . SMITH:
Well, y"ou brought it up about . . • .
MR. JOYCE:
I understand.
it.

That's why I was deluded to object to

But, I think we are arguing far-afield now.

DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COSTA:

~

\·Jell, I guess I should say I too I re g ardless of wh e th e r
·f lHarold E. Shaffer, Claimunt

··.

he submitted it under Blue-Cross or Blue-Shield . . . no
matter what he did with i t . . . it's not really detcrminutive
(inaudible) .
MR. JOYCE:
Right.

I didn't mean to get us that far-afield. I

appologize .
.MR. SMITH:
I believe that will be all.
DEPUTY COt".MISSIONER COSTA:
Okay.

~ny

other witnesses for the . . . .

MR. JOYCE:
I want to ask him a couple . .
the re-direct .

.

I'm sorry.

.

.

. . (inaudible) .

HAROLD E. SHAFFER, Claimant
BY MR. JOYCE:
Q.

t-1r. Shaffer, who was the doctor you saw a week before you
resigned your employment?

A.

Anthony Thompson up there .

Q.

Anthony Robinson?

A.

Yes, sir.

Q.

This is the statement that you have got . .
ask you

.

.

.Anthony Robinson .

.

.

.

..

-·.

let me

you resigned on June the ninth, right?

A.

I'd say it was.

Q.

When was the last date ihown on there before June the ninth?

A•

(No verbal response noted).

Q.

Isn't it at the bottom of that next page, May 14th?

p._.

Are you referring to the last time that I went to him before
I went back to work, is that what you are trying to say?
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Q.

The last time that you went to him before you resigned from
. your work?

A.

It's probably on there.

Q.

Isn't it May the 4th right here?

Pt the bottom?

MR. JOYCE:
In any event, I think you were going to file this.
(inaudible)

. . . the Commission

~an

make that deduction.

BY MR. J OYCE :
Q.

That bill shows the last time you went to see Dr. Robinson
was May the fourth.

In his letter of June the fifth, 1981,

says that the last time that you saw him was May the four t h
. that is the last tiMe prior to your resigning on
the ninth.

I

Jun~

take i t then that those dates would be accurate?

Isn't that right?

P.

I don't remember the dates but they should be a record there.

Q.

So, you don't quarrel with the record, is that right?
You were just mistaken, you didn't see hiM a week before you
resigned, did you?

A.

I can't say . . . you know,
record should show what .

Q.

Okay.

. a week or the day . . . the

.

The doctor you referred

~o

is Dr. Robinson and the

last time you saw him is whenever his record says i t was,
isn't that right?
A.

It should show there.

Q.

And, the last time you saw him was one of these routine visits
that he sees you once a month or more frequently if he sets

so
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it up more frequently, isn't that right?

A.

Well, I can't recall . . . should have a record of it.

Q.

Okay.

Now, you stated earlier that straining your back in

response to Mr. Smith's question, you stated that ·. . . or
he stated for you and you agreed, that straining your b a c k
h a d no effect on your nervous condit i on, but you t o ld me
earlier that, in fact, it did.
the peop le.

.

And, isn't that what you t old

your employer, that the thing that a ggravatcc

you situation was straining your back at home?

"· .

I don't recall, but

. what they say, but the

strain was that I couldn't get up and down .
Q.

.A.nd, that worried you and made your nervous condition worse,
didn't it?

The fact that you pulled y our back and strained

your back?

A.

Well, I couldn't state that it made it wors e r or what.

Q.

Were you able to work before that and not able to work after
that?

You stated that the reason yo u couldn't work was yo ur

nervous condition, so didn't that have something to do with
•

A.

•

•?

Well, it was all leading up, just like I said . . . on t he job
that, therefore, that . . • .
DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COSTA:
Well, let me just interject here that . . . there is a
rece nt Supreme Court case that says on a chan ge in condition
that claimant is suffering from two disabling casues, one of
wh ich i s relate d to the accid e nt and one of which is not, if
the employment is a contributing cause, then it is still
compensable . So, assuming, fo r the sake of argument, that
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t h~

C l: 1:. :-·.-.

back injury resulted in disability, if the claimant expcrjc ncec
concurrent emotional disability and I find tl1at that

emotion~l

disability is related to his employment, the fact that he
sustained the non-work-related back injury would not bar
his claim.

So, maybe we can • . .

MR. SMITH:
- Your Honor, we are

~illing

to stipulate .

that he did sustain a non-work-related back injury
about the time that he quit.

We are not willing to

that this was the sole cause of his quitting.

stipul~tc

(inaudible

portion) . . this may possibly have (inaudible) his condition
to the point where . . . know he was building up to that
point anyway . . . would cause him to hasten the date
that he . . .
DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COSTA:
Hasten the date?

Well, I'd (inaudible) go into
testi~ony.

maybe shorten some of the

I will cite the case

in my opinion.
MR. JOYCE:
I will accept the stipulations of opposing counsel.
And, that along with the evidence in the record, I have no
other questions.
DEPUTY

CO~~ISSIONER

Alright.

COSTA:

Any other witnesses for the claimant?

MR. SMITH:
No, your Honor.
DEPUTY

COMMISSIONER COSTA:

Any witnesses for the employer?

5Z
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MR . JOYCE:
Yes, sir.
DEPUTY

CO~~ISSIONER

Alright.

COSTA:

Mr. Shaffer, do you want to have a seat

right over here?
~tR .

JOYCE:
Let me call Kelsey Rutherford, please.

Do you wnnt

me to get him?
OFF RECORD
KELSEY RUTHERFORD, Witness
BY MR. JOYCE:

Q.

Mr. Rutherford, you were sworn in earlier.

Would youstate

your full name, please~ sir?
A.

Kelsey C. Rutherford.

Q.

What is your position at Flav-0-Rich?

A.

Plant Superintendent .

Q.

And, you are, therefore, Mr. Shaffer's boss?

A.

Well, yes, sir.

Q.

You're everybody's boss at the plant?

Alright, did you hnve

occasion to discuss with Mr. Rutherford in June of 1981 his · ~
employment situation and why he was resigning from his
employment?

A.

Harold • . . was . . . when he, I gues s . . . I don't know of
an occasion .

. . made a point to see all • .

. or any number

of the employees at that .

Q.

Okay.

We are runn ing over on this hearing.

Let's try to

expedite this.
A.

Alright, sir.
-26-

Kelsey Rutherford, Witness

Q.

Just direct your attention to June 7, which was a Sunday,
1981, did you receive a phone call from Mr. Shaffer?

A.

Yes, sir.

Q.

What did he state to you at that time?

A.

Well, he was . . . he was . . . that he was unable to come
in.

Q.

vJhy did he say?

A.

He had hurt

.the way he explained to me, he had hurt

his back.
Q.

Did he say whether he hurt i t at work or at home?

P.••

At home.

Q.

Alright and he said thaj: was the reason he was unable to work? ·

A.

Yes, sir.

Q.

Did he mention anything else at that time?

A.

No.

Q.

Alright, now, did you then have occasion to talk to him on

He just, you know, said that he had hurt his .

June the ninth at the plant which was a Tuesday?
A.

Well, he came in and wanted to, you know, to turn in his
resignation.
h~

Q.

Alright, now, what was the reason

A.

Well, that he . . . that due to his back . . . hurting his

gave you for resigning?

back, he felt that that was a bothering . . . going against
his nerves.

And that he just didn't feel like that he could

do the job and he wanted, you know, to turn in his notice.

Q.

Alright, now, did he mention anything about his injury or
being hurt in July 22, 1980?

A.

No, I

. . . the only thing that I . . . you know,

(inaudible)

54
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Q.

A.

Speak up so they can hear you.
. . . Understood was the fact of what had happened,
you know, on the job • . . or you know, on the farm .
at work on the .

. (inaudible) . . . or whatever had

taken place there.
Q.

Okay.

l\ .

Yes, sir, that's the conversation that took place in his

Would you identify this, please?

presence.
Q.

Is that his signature there and did he sign i t in your
presence?

A.

Yes, sir.

Q.

And he signed it in your presence?

A.

Yes, sir.

That is his signature.

MR. JOYCE:
May we make this defendant's exhibit

nun~er

one please?

DEPUTY COM1-1ISSIONER COSTA:
Any objections from the claimant?
MR. SMITH:
I would like to ask some questions about it.
not, but I would like to ask some questions .

Probably
so if you
..

--

will hold your ruling . . .
DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COSTA:
Alright, sir. I won't rule on it.
MR. JOYCE:
If I might . . . • the original having been tendered . . . .
Mr. Vine, Personnel Manager, indicates that he would like to
have the original for his file.
of the original?

Could I submit a copy in leiu
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DEPUTY

CO~~ISSIONER

COSTA:

That would be fine, sure.
KELSEY RUTHERFORD, Witness
BY MR. JOYCE:

Q.

Okay.

Mr. Rutherford, that's all. Let me ask you one thing.

The people who were present at the time that this conversation
took place .

A.

Mr. Bill Vine was also present wasn ' t he?

Yes, sir .
MR. JOYCE:
Okay;
DEPUTY

That's all of the questions that I have.

CO~~ISSIONER

COSTA:

Alright.
MR. JOYCE :
Excuse me.

Answer any questions Mr. Smith has, please.

KELSEY RUTHERFORD, Witness
BY MR . SMITH:
Q.

Mr. Rutherford, Mr. Shaffer didn't write that did he?

A.

No.

Q.

Who typed it, sir?

A.

Our

. Q.

. the payroll

Clerk?

A.

Clerk, yes , sir.

Q.

And, Mr. Shaffer didn't dictate it to the payroll clerk, did
he?

A.

No, sir.

Q.

Who dictated i t to the payroll clerk?

A.

Well, that was in the presence of our own . • . .
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Q.

Well, I'm asking, who dictated it to the payroll clerk?

A.

Well, I couldn't .

Q.

You don't know who did?

A.

No , sir.

Q.

But somebody in company management dictated it?

l\.

Well, it was written in his presence.

Q.

But somebody else wrote it?

A.

Yes.

Q.

Not him?

A.

Not him, no, sir.

Q.

And , the somebody else that wrote it was an employee,
presumably a management employee of Flav-0-Rich?

A.

Right .

Q.

Now, in this letter that was written by a management employee

It was .

of Flav-0-Rich , · it says due to the injury which occurred at
his residence and his nervous condition • . . now did he talk
about his nervious condition that day?
A.

Well, that's the words that he stated.

Q.

He even talked with you about his nervous condition before,

. the two together.

hadn't he?

A.

No, that's the first time that • • . on Tuesday there when
he came in to . . •

Q.

He never mentioned that he had a nervous condition?

A.

Not on that job.

Q.

I'm asking you, sir, did he ever mention that he had a nervou s
condition . . . that he was ever .

A.

Well, he had been, I guess, treated for that.

I don't know

the circums tances as what
-30- -
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Q.

But you knew that he had had a nervous condition prior
to his resigning?

A.

.

Well, I don't know exactly how to • . . . the problem that

,.

he stated . .

. he had been a going to the doctor and I guess

that's the doctor's diagnosis . . • I couldn't say, no, sir,
. I don 't know what . . . not being familiar with the ..
Q.

Did you discuss with him what he meant by his nervous
condition when he was talking to you on June the ninth?

A.

No, sir, I did not.

Q.

You did know that he had an injury where he hit his head
back in July of 1980, didn't you?

A.

I knew

that he had had a fall, but to the nature of his

injury, no, you know, I don't know what.
Q.

And, that fall was while he was on the job?

A.

Yes, sir.

Q.

Doing his regular work?

A.

Right .
MR. SMITH:
Your Honor, I don't have any objection to this except

.. _.._ .·

I would note that this was written by the management
personnel . . .

(inaudible).

DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COSTA:
Alright, sir.

Why not keep that copy, I've got .

and, it will be made a part of the record.

Any other

questions for this witness from either side.
MR. SMITH:
I had just one other question.
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~7i tness

KELSEY RUTHERFORD , Witness
BY MR. St-1ITH:
Q.

Did • . . who came up with the words, this resignation
is my own free will and I was not pressured by Flav-0-Rich,
Inc. or its employees?

A.

Well, I don't know who
words .

(inaudible) .

. you know . . . who it was
.

to that effect.

in there was in his presence.

But everything ·

Now his knowingly what was

put in there . . . he knew it.
MR. SMITH:
That will be all.
BY MR . JOYCE:
Q.

Mr. Rutherford, Mr. Shaffer had some input as to what that
thing said and he agreed to it and knew what i t said
didn't he?
MR. SMITH:
I will object to the leading questions.
DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COSTA:
This is your witness.

BY MR. JOYCE:
Q.

Did Mr. Shaffer have any input in to what was written on
that piece of paper?

A.

He said he fully understood the wording of the statements
that were put on that letter.
MR. JOYCE:
That 's all I have.

I would like to call Mr. Shaffer's

as an adverse witness for a short series of que stions.
can just sit there as far as I am conce rned.

~
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DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COSTA:
Well, as far as I am concerned
MR. JOYCE:
Well, you can't pick it up here . .. Okay, you can go
back outside, please, sir.
DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COSTA:
Mr. Shaffer, come back up here and have a seat . . . .
MR. JOYCE:
I'm sorry I forgot the microphone.
MR. SMITH:
Your Honor, to save time, we are willing to stipulate
that these witnesses

. . can I see

the original a minute

we may be wi lling to stipulate that the witnesses were present
and signed it.
DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COSTA:
Okay.
MR. SMITH:
Without stipulating as to accuracy of the statement
or as to whether or not this was management's words or Mr.
Shaffer's wo rds, we will stipulate that these three pe.orle
signed this sheet here.

It's only for the time . .

MR. JOYCE:
to save time, that they would testify
substantially in the court with. what Mr . Rutherford said
concerning that particula r

.

. . .

(i naudible) . .

we will call him.
HAROLD E. SHPFFER, Claimant
BY MR. JOYCE:
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Statements

.

Q.

Alright, Mr. Shaffer, when you had this conversat ion with
them when you resigned, you resigned of your own free will,
i t was your idea, wasn't it?

A.

Yes.

Q.

Okay.

And, the reason that you resigned is the

sa~e

that

you said earlier, you hurt your back at horne and your
nervous condition had flared-up, isn't that right?

A.

My nervous condition is why I resigned from my .

Q•.

But your back had something to do with i t

A.

that's what y ou told them?
think
I don't/it had that bearing at that time, my nerves . • . .

.

a~parently,

well they was.
Q.

You have seen the statement that was prepared, haven't you,
that you signed?

A.

Yes.

Q.

The statement is accurate, is it not?

A.

Well, i t was written by Bob Stout or by his . . .

Q.

But, you knew what i t said and you agreed with it?

A.

I signed it.

Q.

Didn't you agree with i t and know what i t said?

Jl• •

Well ,

Q.

Well, doesn't i t say exactly what you testified to earlier

(inaudible)

Right?

I don't know that I agreed . . . .

here today?

A.

We ll, one thing that I don't agree to that Hr. Kelsey said
that there wasn't . • . . . I have talked to him about my
condition before retiring which he didn't acknowledge I notice
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here.
Q.

Well, he said he didn't recall sreaking with you.

·n ut,

let's iimit it to what the statement said rather thank ar gue
with everything he said.

The statement that you signed, you

knew what it said and agreed to it, isn't that correct?
A.

Yes, sir.
MR. JOYCE:
Okay.

That 's all.

Ill\ROLD-E. SIIJ\FFE R, Claimant
EY
Q.

~R.

SMITI!:
Mr. Shaffer, what does this mean, this resignation is of my
own free will and I was not pressured by Flav-0-Rich, Inc. or
its employees?

Did you tell them to put that in?

A.

No, sir, Bob Stout . • .

Q.

Do you know why Mr. Stout put that in?

A.

No, sir.

Q.

He just wrote it of his own accord, you didn't tell him to p ut
that in?

A.

No, sir .

Q.

Now, did you actually say, I feel that with my injury which

wn ~

caused at my residence, did you actually use those words?
No, sir, I didn't use those words.
Q.

So, Mr. Stout carne up with those words, too?
DEPUTY COMMISSIONER COSTA:
Alright, you're shaking your head yes?
MR . SHAFFER:
Yes, sir.

-35-
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BY MR. SlUTH:
Q.

Jl.lright, now, what does the word tender mean?

A.

Tender . .

Q.

Do you know what the word tender means?

J:l..

I don't know exactly what i t refers to.

Q.

Alright, in this paper i t says, I hereby tender my resignat ion .

.

.

?

Wha t does that mean?
A.

I don't k now the definition.

Q.

So, you really didn't even know what this paper said, did you?

J:l..

Not to that extent when it comes to .

Q.

And, do you know what hereby means?

A.

No, sir.

~

.that .

MR. SMITH:
That's all.
BY

~R.

JOY CE :

Q.

Mr. Shaffer, what did you think the paper meant?

J:l.. •

Sir?

Q.

What d i d you

A.

Well, I thought the paper meant that I . . . I explained

thin~

the paper meant?

to them my condition was . . . had grown worser and, therefore
I ,wasn't able to

cont~nue

my job and, therefore, that ·was .. , __

my conversation with them.

Q.

In that conversation you mentioned the back injury at home?

A.

Yes, sir.

Q.

~nd,

you mentioned that you didn't intend to work anymore?

You know what resign means, don't you?

A.

Well, resign . . . . .

Q.

Let me ask you this way.
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You knew you were quitting didn't
Harold E. Shaffer, Claiwant

·.

you?
A.

You could use it whatever word •

Q.

Either word works though right?

You didn't intend to work

there anymore?

A.

~ell,

that's what I explained to them.

I

(

llrlalol Dlvla lon:

(

253 7 Catherine Slreel
Bristo l, Vlrolnio 24201
(70J) 669·5161

FLAV·,O·RICH,INC.
Subs1d1ory ol Dairymen. Inc

Jtme 9. 19 8 1

To Whom It May Concern :
I. Ervin Harold Shaffer, feeling that I am un abl e to continue my employment
with Flav.:.o-Rich, Inc. hereby t e nder my resignation , effective June 9, 1981.
I feel that with my injury which 1.,ras caused at my r es iden'c e and my n e rvous
condition, I can not · perform my natural work with the above mentioned
company. This resignation is of my own freewill and I was not pressure d
by Flav-0-Rich. Inc. or its employees.
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Opinion by COSTA,
Deputy Commissioner

SEP. 1 4 1981

Hearing scheduled before Deputy Commissioner COSTA in
Abingdon, Virginia on September 9, 1981.
This claim is before the Commission upon the

c l ~ima nt's

application filed June 26, 1981, alleging a change in cond ition in
that claimant had again become disabled as a result of his

c. 1aiutan t

July 22, 19 80 industrial accident with the named de fcndan t.

asserts that he has suffered severe psychiatric impairment u !-: a

result of his industrial accideht.

Employer: by

cnu ns~l;

~s~r~~~

··-

- ;:

as its grounds of defense that there has been no change in condition,
and that claimant is able to engage in the full duties of his
pre-injury employment, without

limitations.

The record indicates that claimant was employed in the
receiving section of the defendant's milk facility,

e~rning

an

average weekly wage of $191.20, which is productive of a compensa tjon
rate of $127.47.

On July 22, 1980, claimant sustained injury

to his right side, neck, and head when he fell fro m the top of
a milk tanker truck.

He was initially seen by Dr. Michael Lady,

whose attending physician's report of August 19, 1980 includes a
diagnosis of "contusion right shoulder, mild concussion", a condition
which Dr. Lady causally relates to claimant's industrial accident.
The employer accepted the claim as compensable by Memorandum of
Agr eement, and an award of the Commission was entered on September 9,
1980, entitling claimant to temporary total disability benefits
commencing August 14, 1980.

Claimant apparently returned to work

on August 19, 1 9 80, but again b ecame disabled on August 24, 1980.
Subsequent to the accident, claimant apparently began
to experience difficulties of a psychiatric uature.

Th<.::

O<.;Loue.L

psychological test report of Dr. Donald G. Hiers, Clinical
Psych6logist, indi cates :
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I.e. File No. 675-383

He indicated that he was in good health
until July 22, 1981, when he fell from
a milk truck while cleaning it. Since
then he has become irritable and loses
his temper. He volunteers that he has
had suicidal ideation and two short-term
fugue--like states ...
The diagnosis is mild mental retardation
overlaying a basic passive--dependent
personality which probably received
psychological insult as a result of his
recent accident that caused a depressive
situational reaction.
He may best be
treated minimally through reality therapy
and chemotherapy. The prognosis for
general improvement is guarded. [Emphasis

- --. 1

.=!r'lr'lQr'l
- ....

~

Claimant was also examined by Dr. Anthony H. Robinson,
a Board Certified Psychiatrist, of Kingsport, Tennessee, whose
report of January 2 8, 19 81 indic·a tes:
My understanding of the developments
of his psychiatric complaints are as
follows:
He suffered the accident in
July of 1980, and though feeling somewhat
anxious he decided to return to work as
he had been reassured that he was alright
physically. Within a short period of
time anxiety developed similar to what
is seen in a traumatic neurosis. This
then degenerated in time into a depressive
condition. This is quite common with
people who suffer severe injuries or close
calls with death. There is a rather delayed
response, but clearly the an x iety and
depression were related to the injury.
One might note that he had no previous
history prior to this accident ..•
It is clear that Mr. Shaffer has a rather
limited intellect and therefore has
fewer resources to fall back upon in
times of stress. However, I do not
think one can "blame" his psychiatric
condition on his limited intellect.
Therefore I think I can sa¥ with some
certainty that the d e press~on and the
anxiet developed as a direct result
of the acc1dent. Emphasls added.
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In a follow up report dated June 5, 1981, Dr. Robinson
indicated:
.lt is .impol:;S.lo.le for me to preal.ct
how long he wi.ll need to be treated .
However, I would expect he will need
to be seen periodically in my office
for a t ·least the next year. His
pro gnos is has improved but with the
leve l of problems he has experienced
I think this condition will remain
chronic.
Claimant appeared and testified that he was l as t paid
compensation through March 16, 1981, and that he returned to •
work on March 17, 1981.

Upon his return to work, claimant indicated

that he experienced renewed difficulties with his psychiatric
condition.

He testified that he is unable to control his temper,

and that, at times, he is unable to control the more violent
aspects of his temper, violence which is primarily directed toward ..
the members of his own family.

Claimant has been prescribed

medic at ion for his psychiatric condition by the various physicians
associated with the case , but the medication, according to claimant,
has had little effect.

He continues to feel depressed and anxious,

and indicated that he actually attempted to commit suicide in
October of 1980 by taking an overdose of medication,

~n

episode

which is also mentioned in the admission swrunary of Dr. James
Wolfe

dated October 17, 1980.

\v.

Claimant is having difficulty,

h e relates , with cry ing spel ls, and with sleeping.

He testified

that he had never experienced any problems of the above nature prior
to his in dustria l accident , that he enjoyed his work prior to the
accident, and that he worked regularly with only the usual absences
for routine periods of illness.

,0
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The position at Flav-0-Rich which claimant was assigned
to involved, according to claimant, a great deal of stress.

!lis

work brought him into frequent contact with other workers, and
claimant indicated that he oftentimes felt that he was unable to
control his temper in such situations.

Claimant further indicated

that he HexplodesH without warning, and that he was extremely
concerned that he would commit an act of violence against one of
his co-workers if he remained on the job.

Since his return to

work in March, 1981, claimant has worked as aHbaggerH, a position
which involves removing one gallon empty plastic containers from
a moving assembly line, and placing the containers in a

pl~~t~c

bag .- It was indicated by claimant that his psychiatric

disabilitic~

were of such severity in the early part of June, 1981, that he
came to the conclusion that he could not continue working.
therefore resigned on June 9,

He

1981~

Apparently, claimant sustained what appears to have been
a back strain at home a short time prior to his resignation when
he lifted up

a tree limb.

According to Kelsey Rutherford, plant

superi n tendent, who appeared and testified, claimant called
Mr. Rutherford on June 7, 1981, and indicated that he would not
be in to work because he had hurt his back at home.

Mr. Rutherford

further indicated that on June 9, 1981, claimant resigned, citing
as his reasons

back discomfort due to the tree limb incident,

bac k discomfort which claimant felt was aggravating his nervous
cond i tion.

The employer has introduced into the record a letter

dated June 9, 1981 which apparently was composed by an unnamed
official of Flav -0-Rich, a letter which claimant signed, and which
reads, in pertinent part, as f o llows:

I.e. File No. 675-383
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I, Ervin Harold Shaffer, feeling t h at I
am unable to continue my emplo yment
with Flav-0-Rich, Inc. ! hereby tend e r
my resignation, effective June 9, 1981.
I feel that with my injury which was
caused at my residence and my nervous
condition, I cannot perform my natural
work with the above mentioned company.
This resignation is of my own freewill
and I was not pressured by Flav-0-Rich,
Inc., or its employees.
· The employer contends that any disability which claimant
might be experiencing is because of the tree limb incident, and
offers the June 9,1981 letter in support

of that assertion .

. ..../\

Howev er, the employer has failed to present the - Commission with
any medical evidence indicating that claimant suffered any degree
of impairment to his back as a result of the tree limb incident.
Even assuming for the sake of argument that the tree limb incictent
resulted in some impairment to claimant's back, the recent Supreme
Court case of BerQman vs. L & W. Drywall Company, a per curiam
opinion of the

Virginia Supreme Court dated June 12, 1981, clearly

indicates that where claimant's disability has two causes, one
related to the employment, and one unrelated, when it is proven
that the employment i$ a contributing factor to t he disability,
full benefits will be allowed.

In addition, we do not feel that

statements such as the one introd?ced by the employer are in any
•,..·a:::r· !Jir.ding upon the Cmru-uission in terms of

tite

ui"tGeL ly .i.. 1•9 rGa ~ u11:>

for claimant's failure to continue in his employment.

Such

determinations are entirely within the provi nce of the Commission,
and the Commission's right to make such determinations cannot be
supplanted by means of statements similar to the June 9, 1981
document.

-6-
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The Commission is of the opinion ·that both Dr. Hiers
and Dr. Robinson have causally related claimant's anxiety neurosis
and depressive neurosis to his industrial accident. We further
note Dr. Robinson's judgment that claimant's condition is chronic
in nature, and that continued treatment will be necessary.

Indeed,

the record iJ1Cludes documentation that claimant has received
psychiatric counseling on a regular basis ever since the accident.

Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the
claimant, the Commission is of the opinion that claimant has, in
fact, sustained a change in condition, in that his

p~ychiatric

disability prevents him from engaging in the full duties of his
pre-injury employment, without limitations.

Therefore, compensation

benefits shall be resumed effective June 10, 1981, and shall
continue until subsequent conditions justify a modification of
this award.

All compensation which has accrued as of the date of

this opinion shall be paid claimant in one lump sum, and future
benefit payments shall be made every two weeks thereafter.
From co_m pensation accrued, $240.00 is to be deducted
and paid directly to S. Strother Smith; Esquire, for legal
assistance rendered claimant.
The employer shall continue to be responsible for all
reason ab le and necessary medical care occasioned by

claimant~s

July 22, 1980 industrial accident for as long as nece ss ary.
There being nothing further before the Commission for
determination, this claim is hereby dismissed, and
ordered stricken from the

he~ring

docket.

t~e c~3e

is

Opinion by JAMES
Commi ssione r

FEB 2 6 1982

REVIEW before the full Commission at Richmond,
Virginia on February 4, 1982 .
This case comes at the r equest · of the defendants
for review of the Septembe r 14, 198 1 Opinion of the
Dep uty Commissioner which .made a finding that the claimant had sus tained a c han ge in condition since h is
psychiatric disability prevented him from engaging in
the full duties of his pre-injur y employme nt without
limitations.
The case is defended on the grounds that the empl oyee is able to do the work which the emp l oyer has
made available for him and if he has any disability, it
is not the result of th e indust ri al accident.
This fo rt y-seve n year old emp l oyee had been with
t his emp l oyer for a per i od of fi ve and one half years
when h e fell from the top of a milk tanker which he
was was hin g.

The case was accepted by an agreement of

the parties with an award bei n g entered o n September 9 ,
1980 for temporary-total work incapacity be g innin g August
14, 1980.

Thi s award was term inated when the employee

returned to work on August 19, 1980 but a supplemental
award was entered with compensation comme n cing on August
24, 1980 when the emp l oyee agai n became disabl ed .

Compen -

satio n was last paid through March 16, 1 981 as the employee
r et urn e d to work on Mar ch 17 , 1981.

The Application for Hearing was filed on June 26,
1981 alleging the employee was unable to continue his job
and stopped work again on or about June 4, 1981.
The Opinion below has quoted the pertinent portions
from the medical reports of the psychiatrist and the
clinica l psychologist.

It is obvious the employee commenced

having headaches, dizziness and depression during the course
of the time that he was trying to continue his work.
The case is complicated by the fact that just prior
to leaving his work in June, 1981, he called his employer
and advised that he hurt his back and would not be in to
work the following day.

He later signed a resignation

notice but in view of his limited understanding of the
notice and the fact it was prepared by the employer with
full knowledge the employee was having problems, the
Hearing Commissioner gave little weight to this termination notice.
It appears the work which the employee was doing
when he le ft in

Jun~,

1981 was of a very light physical

nature, and the report of Dr. Robinson, a psychiatrist,
indicates that as late as May 4, 1981, the employee was
still having anxiety and was to be seen again in midJune.

The doctor also indicates that the employee

had improved but he felt his condition would remain
chronic.

~5

The full Commission on review, with Chief Deputy
Commissioner Hiner sitting for Commissioner Miller,
AGREES with the findings of fact as set forth in the Opinion
of September 14, 1981 except a jindini "ls made tfie employee
is disabled from doing the selective work he had

~een

forming after returning to work in March, 1981 and

per-

~hat

his

·depressive neurosis from the accident is a co ntributin g
cause of the incapacity.
The · full Commission agrees with the conclusions of
law as set forth in that Opinion and AFFIRMS the reinstating
of compensation benefits as of June 10, 1981.
From the further compensation due, a total fee of
$400 .00 shall be deducted and paid directly to Attorney
S. Strother Smith, III, for legal services to the employee .

~6

ERROR ASSIGNED

The award of the Industrial Commission is based solely
on speculation and is totally unsupported by medical evidence
both as to whether the claimant is disabled and whether his
current condition is causally related to the compensable accident.

